RECEIVED

07-19-2011

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT III

------Appeal No. 11 AP 1044

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DALE R. NEUMANN,

Defendant-Appellant.

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND APPENDIX

MILLER & MILLER

Attorneys for the Defendant-Appellant By Steven L. Miller #01005582 P.O. Box 655 River Falls, WI 54022 (715) 425-9780

On appeal from the Circuit Court of Marathon County, Hon. Vincent K. Howard, Circuit Judge, presiding.

ISSUES FOR REVIEW

1. Was defendant's right to due process notice violated when he was charged based upon conduct expressly exempt from prosecution under another criminal statute?

The trial court answered: "No."

2. Was defendant's duty to provide his child with conventional medical care defined by the exemption for faith healing contained in Wis. Stat. § 948.03 or, barring that, a parent's constitutional right to direct a child's medical care?

The trial court answered: "No."

3. Was the real controversy fully tried, or was trial counsel ineffective, when the jury was not properly informed it could consider "faith healing" as a defense to the subjective element of Wis. Stat. § 940.06?

The trial court answered: "Yes, the real controversy was fully tried; and no, trial counsel was not ineffective."

4. Were the jurors objectively biased when the trial court informed them defendant's wife had been previously convicted on the same charge?

The trial court answered: "No."

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument and publication are both requested.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Dale and Leilani Neumann are the parents of Madeline Kara¹ Neumann. They were each charged with one count of second degree reckless homicide (Wis. Stat. § 940.06) when Kara died from undiagnosed diabetes. The charge results from the Neumanns' decision to treat Kara's through prayer and faith healing rather than conventional medical care. They were each tried separately. Leilani was convicted on May 22, 2009, and Dale was convicted on August 1, 2009, after separate jury trials. On October 6, 2009, both were sentenced to 10 years probation, with six months in the county jail stayed. In addition, each parent was required to serve 30 days in jail during the month of March, every other year, for six years. A written judgment of conviction was filed on October 8, 2009. The jail terms were stayed pending appeal.

Dale filed a postconviction motion on January 7, 2011. A motion hearing was held on February 22, 2011. On April 27, 2011, the trial court filed a written decision denying the postconviction motion. (85:1-16; Appendix ("A:") pp. 20-36). A notice of appeal was filed on May 5, 2011. On June 29, 2011, this Court ordered the cases consolidated for decision only.

10

¹ Madeline Neumann is referred to by her middle name "Kara" throughout the record.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Dale Neumann is a deeply religious man who identifies with the Pentecostalist tradition. (109:132; 111:72, 86, 95). He attended Christian Life College and received a B.A. in theology and missions. (111:89, 91). Together with his wife and family, Dale engaged in community ministry and hosted bible studies and other religious gatherings in his home. (109:32-33, 119, 194, 199; 111:10-11, 17, 87). In addition to their ministry activities, the Neumanns owned and operated a drive-up coffee shop.

One of Dale's fundamental religious precepts is his absolute belief in the casual relationship between sickness and sin, the power of God to heal the sick, and the use of prayer to heal rather than conventional medical treatment. (109:35, 36, 129-133, 142, 208, 213-214, 267, 285; 111:19, 33). Dale has personally witnessed the healing power of God to cure cancer, infertility, and other serious medical conditions. (111:102-103). Dale and his family have foresworn conventional medical care. Seeking medical attention rather than turning to God would have been putting the doctor before God, and would thus constitute "disobedience" to God. (109:111, 130; 111:105-110, 118-119, 154). According to Dale, both his and his family's health improved when they stopped using medical services. (109:143; 111:111, 115). The genuineness of Dale's beliefs was never contradicted nor disputed at trial. (109:287). According to one of his friends, Dale has "great faith" and confidence in his beliefs. (111:33).

Eleven-year-old Kara was the youngest of Dale and Leilani Neumann's four children. (107:10, 11; 109:8). Kara had no past medical history. (107:128). For at least a couple of weeks before her death on March 23, 2008, Kara had been feeling weak and tired, and was often thirsty. She used the bathroom more frequently. (109:37). To the casual observer,

however, Kara would have appeared healthy up to and including Thursday, March 20, 2008. (111:177).

On Friday, March 21, Leilani came home from work around 6 p.m. Kara was sitting at the table trying to do homework. Leilani noticed Kara looked tired, and told her to lay down. (109:39, 40). Dale later came home with two McChickens and a shake from McDonalds. (111:132). Kara ate one McChicken and drank half the shake. (111:134).

On the morning of Saturday, March 22, Leilani spoke with Kara and decided she should stay home and rest rather than working at the family coffee shop. (109:47). Dale later saw Kara and asked her if she was okay and she responded that she was just tired. (111:127). She agreed she was going to lie down, and Dale spent the day working on the family tax return. (111:129). Leilani returned home around 5 p.m. and Kara was on the couch. She was weak and looked pale. She had a blueness in her legs and her breathing was labored. Leilani called for Dale, as she was concerned. They started praying and massaging her. The blueness started to leave. Leilani gave Kara a smoothie, which she drank. (109:54, 55, 59, 66; 111:131, 134, 138). They continued praying for her. (111:131).

Dale was sufficiently concerned that he broadcast an email seeking emergency prayer and assistance from David Ellis, an elder of the church. Ellis called them later that evening and joined them in prayer. (109:62; 111:134, 138). Dale testified: "I didn't know what specifically was wrong with her. It could have been the flu. It could have been the fever. It could have been so many different other things. But whatever it was, she was very sleepy, so it needed attention so we prayed." (111:135-136).

The family was praying for her continuously that evening. (109:65, 68, 75). Friends and family were called to

join in prayer (109:76, 77, 82, 84, 87, 99; 111:22). Eventually, the family took a break from prayer to eat dinner. During that time Kara got up from the bed on her own and went to the bathroom. She fell off the toilet. (109:72). When she was found several minutes later, around 7 or 8, she was carried downstairs to the living room couch where the family could keep a closer eye on her. (109:73). At this point she was very weak. She couldn't walk on her own and did not talk. The family continued to pray on Kara's behalf until they went to bed sometime after midnight. (111:136, 137). Two of Kara's siblings slept next to her that night. (109:84).

At about 5:00 a.m., on March 23, Easter Sunday, the two children sleeping by Kara woke Dale up and told him Kara kept kicking the covers off the couch and thought she needed to go to the bathroom. (109:85). Kara did not appear conscious. (109:90). She was limp, still in a deep sleep, but "she was breathing – what I considered normal breathing. So I just said, well...whatever this is, Lord, it's going to burn out of her, and it's no problem at all." (111:138, 139). Both Dale and Leilani thought her breathing had improved. (*Id.*; 109:120).² The Neumanns began making calls to bring people from their bible study to their house. (109:87, 219, 245). They continued praying. (111:139, 140).

Lynn Wilde arrived around 9 a.m. and stayed for 3 to 3½ hours (111:23, 58). She joined Dale, Leilani and the children in prayer. (111:24). According to Lynn, Kara appeared as if she had the flu or something. She was limp, but she would move her head and moan in response to their attempts to communicate with her. (111:32, 49, 53).

Dan and Jennifer Peaslee arrived around 11:30 a.m., just as Lynn Wilde was helping Leilani give Kara a sponge

The medical testimony was that breathing often "normalized" at end stage, when organ failure occurred. (107:219; 108:13, 19)

bath. (109:93, 95, 204, 205, 222). After the sponge bath, Dan Peaslee carried Kara downstairs to the main floor and placed her on a futon which Dale had prepared in a room just off the kitchen. (109:97, 206, 228, 229). The Peaslees described Kara as pale, not moving, with audible breathing. (109:95, 96, 204, 222, 225, 226). Dale was distraught, his nose and eyes red as if he had been crying. (109:224).

They shared communion at Kara's side and all prayed until around 1:00 p.m., when the Peaslees and Lynn Wilde left. (109:106, 222, 231, 230, 233-234; 111:36-37, 58). Despite Kara's condition, they were all optimistic. Lynn fully expected she would get a call later telling her that Kara "was fine, walking around. I had peace about it. Otherwise, I would not have left." (111:38). The Peaslees also had faith that Kara would be healed. (109:230, 233). When they left, they felt she was going to get better. (109:235).

Shortly after 1:30 p.m., Randall and Althea Wormgoor arrived with their four children. (109:250-251, 277). Kara was unconscious. (109:278). The Neumanns told them, however, that she appeared to be doing better. (109:96, 252, 254). They prayed with the Neumanns. (109:255).

At approximately 2:30-2:40 p.m., Randall led Dale away from the others and told him that if it were his daughter, he would be bringing her to a doctor. (109:279, 280). Dale responded: "don't you think that crossed my mind?" It was a "struggle for him." (109:281). At the same time they were having this discussion, Althea noticed a distinct twitch from Kara's mouth which startled her, and she made the decision she was going to call for help. She started looking for an envelope or anything with an address on it. (109:253, 257; 111:67). As she was looking, Randall handed her the phone. Randall had just heard his daughter say that Kara had stopped breathing, and he had already dialed 911. (109:258, 283). Randall then saw Dale crouched down on

his knees, holding Kara, while crying out "Jesus, Jesus." (109:284).

Dispatch told Althea that someone was already on the way.³ (109:258). When the ambulance arrived at 2:44 p.m.⁴, Kara was pulseless and non-breathing. Dale was performing CPR. (107:87, 139). On the way to the hospital, Kara's blood sugar was checked and found to be 5 times the normal level. (107:130, 131).

All attempts to revive Kara at the hospital failed. At 3:30 p.m., thirty minutes after her arrival, she was declared dead. (107:199). The cause of death was diabetes ketoacidosis. (109:173). Had she been brought to the hospital before she stopped breathing, her prognosis for recovery would have still been good. (107:201; 108:9). Neumanns did not learn the cause of death until two days later. (107:21, 110:42, 54).

Dale never believed Kara would die. "Death was not even on my mind." (111:146). Even after she was pronounced dead at the hospital, Dale was hopeful: "Well, Jesus raised Lazarus from the dead. So I'm hoping. Yeah. I'm trusting. I'm believing that there would be a resurrection. Why? I don't want – I don't want to see Kara gone." (111:149). After Kara's death, Dale was in shock. He was "very sad. Very, very sad." (109:237; 111:173).

A 911 call had already been made by Ariel Neff, the wife of Dale's brother-in-law, from California. (107:50, 54, 59-64).

⁴ The ambulance's arrival was not "very much longer" after the Wormgoor's made the 911 call. (107:139; 109:284).

ARGUMENT

I. THE RECKLESS HOMICIDE STATUTE VIOLATES DUE PROCESS BECAUSE IT CRIMINALIZES THE SAME CONDUCT EXPRESSLY AUTHORIZED UNDER WIS. STAT. § 948.03(6).

Wisconsin's child abuse statute, Wis. Stat. § 948.03, prohibits either intentionally or recklessly causing "great bodily harm to a child." The definition of "great bodily harm" includes "bodily injury which creates *a substantial risk of death*,...." (Emphasis added). Wis. Stat. § 939.22(14). Parents engaged in faith healing cannot be prosecuted under Wis. Stat. § 948.03(6)"solely because" they are providing their child "with treatment by spiritual means through prayer alone for healing...." In other words, Wis. Stat. § 948.03 tells faith healing parents that until a child's medical condition progresses to at least some point *beyond* a "substantial risk of death," they are immune from prosecution.

The second degree reckless homicide statute, on the other hand, punishes a faith healing parent if they "recklessly" cause the death of another human being. Wis. Stat. § 940.06. "Recklessly" means creating an unreasonable and "substantial risk of death or great bodily harm," and the defendant is aware of that risk. (Emphasis added) State v. Chapman, 175 Wis.2d 231, 242, 499 N.W.2d 222. In other words, the conduct subject to criminal liability under Wis.

⁵ An imminent risk of death—i.e. respiratory failure; severe bleeding; severe trauma; etc.—would arguably lie *beyond* "a substantial risk of death," and would give clear notice to a parent that immunity under Wis. Stat. § 948.03 no longer applies. As 911 was called as soon as Kara stopped breathing, however, that "line" was never crossed.

Stat. § 940.06 is for all practical purposes identical to the conduct expressly immune from prosecution under Wis. Stat. § 948.03—the only difference being the result (i.e. whether the child survives or dies).

For the faith healing parent who would be immune for his or her actions or omissions under Wis. Stat. § 948.03, prosecution under Wis. Stat. § 940.06 violates due process notice. In this case, the only difference between immunity under Wis. Stat. § 948.03 and liability under Wis. Stat. § 940.06 was the happenstance of death. Because of the nearly complete overlap between immune conduct under Wis. Stat. § 948.03 and non-immune conduct under Wis. Stat. § 940.06, Wis. Stat. § 940.06 fails to give "fair warning" as to what *conduct* by the parent is prohibited. Election Bd. Of State of Wisconsin v. Wisconsin Manufacturers and Commerce, 227 Wis.2d 650, 676-677, 597 N.W.2d 712 (1999) ("Because we assume that [persons are] free to steer between lawful and unlawful conduct, we insist that laws give the person of ordinary intelligence a reasonable opportunity to know what is prohibited, so that he [or she] may act accordingly.").

Kara's condition never progressed beyond a "substantial risk of death" until she stopped breathing. At that point, 911 was called immediately. There was no boundary, no line, no clear moment when Dale Neumann was on notice that his "conduct" (i.e. his failure to provide conventional medical care) had crossed a line between immunity under Wis. Stat. § 948.03 and liability under Wis. Stat. § 940.06.

A due process notice violation was found under very similar circumstances in the case of *State v. McKown*, 475 N.W. 2d 63 (Minn. 1991). In *McKown*, the Minnesota

⁶ Again, this is not a circumstance where death was clearly imminent. See footnote 5.

Supreme Court granted relief under a statutory scheme that arguably provided more notice than Wisconsin's. As in this case, the parents were treating their child's undiagnosed diabetes through prayer rather than conventional medicine. *Id.* at 63-64. When the child died, the parents were charged with second degree manslaughter, which was defined as causing death by "culpable negligence whereby the person creates an unreasonable risk, and consciously takes chances of causing death or great bodily harm to another." *Id.* at 65. Like Wisconsin, the Minnesota manslaughter statute contained no faith healing exception. The child neglect statute, however, did:

a) A parent, legal guardian, or caretaker who wilfully deprives a child of necessary...health care...and which deprivation substantially harms the child's physical or emotional health, is guilty of neglect of a child...

. . .

If a parent, guardian, or caretaker responsible for the child's care in good faith selects and depends upon spiritual means or prayer for treatment or care of disease or remedial care of the child, this treatment shall constitute "health care" as used in clause (a).

(Emphasis added) Id. at 65. The defendant argued he had insufficient notice as to when prayer treatment became illegal. The Minnesota Supreme Court agreed. The prayer treatment exception did not identify "a point at which doing so will expose the parent to criminal liability. The language of the exception therefore does not satisfy the fair notice requirement inherent to the concept of due process." Id. at 68. In addition, "the indictments issued against respondents violate the long-established rule that a government may not officially inform an individual that certain conduct is permitted and then prosecute the individual for engaging in that same conduct..." Id. at 68. This is especially so where "the state has clearly expressed its intention to permit good

faith reliance on spiritual treatment and prayer as an alternative to conventional medical treatment, it cannot prosecute respondents for doing so without violating their rights to due process." *Id.* at 68-69 (internal citations omitted).

The Florida Supreme Court reached the same result under similar facts. See *Hermanson v. State*, 604 So. 2d 775 (1992). The child also died of diabetic ketoacidosis after her parents unsuccessfully treated her with prayer rather than conventional medicine. *Id.* at 775-776. The defendants were convicted under a homicide statute which created criminal liability for anyone who causes the death of a child and who "willfully or by culpable negligence, deprives a child of, or allows a child to be deprived of,...medical treatment...and in so doing causes great bodily harm, permanent disability, or permanent disfigurement to such child." *Id.* at 776. This statute contained no prayer treatment exception. A separate statute defining the term "abused or neglected child," however, did:

(7) "Harm" to a child's health or welfare can occur when the parent or other person responsible for the child's welfare:

. . .

- (f) Fails to supply the child with adequate... health care...; however, a parent or other person responsible for the child's welfare legitimately practicing his religious beliefs, who by reason thereof does not provide specified medical treatment for a child, may not be considered abusive or neglectful for that reason alone.
- *Id.* Because of this prayer treatment exception, the parents did not have sufficient notice as to when prayer treatment was protected:

...when considered together, [the homicide and child abuse statutes] are ambiguous and result in a denial of due process because the statutes in question fail to give parents notice of the point at which their reliance on spiritual treatment loses statutory approval and becomes culpably negligent. We further find that a person of ordinary intelligence cannot be expected to understand the extent to which reliance on spiritual healing is permitted and the point at which this reliance constitutes a criminal offense under the subject statutes. The statutes have created a trap that the legislature should address.

Id.

The argument for lack of notice is even stronger here than either of these two cases. In *McKown*, there was no clear overlap between the child abuse statute (which protects parents up to and including "substantial harm" to the child's physical health) and the manslaughter statute (which requires risk of "death or great bodily harm"). Likewise, in *Hermanson*, there was no clear overlap between the child abuse statute (which protects a parent from liability when her child is "harmed") and the homicide statute at issue (which created liability for "great bodily harm, permanent disability, or permanent disfigurement"). Because of this gap between exempt conduct and conduct subject to liability under the homicide statutes, notice was more prominent in either of these cases than it was here. Even then, the courts found it insufficient.

Other states have rejected the claims of prayer treatment practitioners, but only because the legal context was significantly different. In *Commonwealth v. Barnhart*, 497 A.2d 616 (Pa. 1985) and *Commonwealth v. Nixon*, 761 A.2d 1151 (Pa. 2000), both Pennsylvania cases, for example, there was no express statutory protection for faith healing. In *Hall v. State*, 493 N.E.2d 433, 435 (Ind. 1986), there was an express statutory protection for prayer treatment, but no due process notice claim was actually raised on appeal.

In both *State v. Hays*, 964 P.2d 1042 (Ct. App. 1998) and *Walker v. State*, 763 P. 2d 852 (1988), express statutory protection for prayer treatment and a due process notice claim were present. These cases are distinguishable, however, because there was, in fact, a substantial gap between the exempt conduct and conduct liable under the homicide statute. In these cases, the gap was greater than it was in either *McKown* or *Hermanson*, and *far greater* than it is in this case.

In *Hays*, a faith healing parent was charged with "criminally negligent homicide." 964 P.2d at 1044. A separate statute penalizing "criminal mistreatment" expressly exempted prayer treatment from prosecution. *Id.* at 1045. "Criminal mistreatment" prohibited the maltreatment of dependents, the worst of which was causing "physical injury." *Id.* The Court rejected defendant's notice claim because it was clear the criminal mistreatment statute did not apply to "life threatening" illness. *Id.* at 1046.

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