RECEIVED

10-18-2011

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT III

Case No. 2011AP1044-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DALE R. NEUMANN,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND SENTENCE AND ORDER DENYING MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MARATHON COUNTY, THE HONORABLE VINCENT K. HOWARD PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

MAURA FJ WHELAN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1027974

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Certain affirmative statutory defenses to criminal liability are either unavailable or restricted in cases of homicide. Coercion and necessity supply an absolute defense to *any crime* "except that if the prosecution is for first-degree intentional homicide, the degree of the crime is reduced to 2nd-degree intentional homicide." Wis. Stat. §§ 939.46(1), 939.47. The self-defense privilege is available even in cases of homicide, and "extends ... to the unintended infliction of harm upon a 3rd person." Wis. Stat. § 939.48(3). However,

if the unintended infliction of harm amounts to the crime of first-degree or 2nd-degree reckless homicide, homicide by negligent handling of dangerous weapon, explosives or fire ... the actor is liable for whichever one of those crimes is committed.

Id.

These affirmative defenses provide blanket immunity to persons who reasonably believe they must criminal law violate the under certain extreme circumstances. However, such persons must calibrate their response to those circumstances in order to enjoy this immunity. They may commit any crime with impunity except for homicide. Similarly, a parent treating his child with prayer in lieu of medicine must calibrate his conduct. If his reliance on prayer creates an "unreasonable risk of harm to" his child and the child suffers "bodily harm" or "great bodily harm," the parent is immune. Wis. Stat. § 948.03(1), (3), (6). However, if that same reliance creates an "unreasonable and substantial risk of death or great bodily harm to" the child and the child dies, he has no immunity. Wis. Stat. §§ 939.24(1), 940.06(1).

6. Foreign case law supports the State's interpretation.

Other courts have addressed this fair-notice argument. Although there is a split in authority, the better-reasoned opinions support the State's position.

Laurie Walker was convicted of involuntary manslaughter and felony child endangerment when her choice of prayer over medicine caused her daughter's death. The California Penal Code exempts prayer-treating parents from misdemeanor liability for failing to provide medical treatment (among other necessities) to their children. *Walker*, 763 P.2d at 856. Walker claimed she had no notice of where the exemption ended and criminal liability began.

Quoting Justice Holmes, the California Supreme Court rejected Walker's contention:

"[T]he law is full of instances where a man's fate depends on his estimating rightly ... some matter of degree.... 'An act causing death may be murder, manslaughter, or misadventure according to the degree of danger attending it' by common experience in the circumstances known to the actor."

The "matter of degree" that persons relying on prayer treatment must estimate rightly is the point at which their course of conduct becomes criminally negligent. In terms of notice, due process requires no more.

Id. at 872 (quoting *Nash v. United States*, 229 U.S. 373, 377 (1913)) (other citations omitted).

The court explained that the statutes revealed a deliberate balancing of the prayer-treating parents' interests and the State's police power interest.

The ... legislative intent is clear: when a child's health is seriously jeopardized, the right of a parent to rely exclusively on prayer must yield....

. . . .

... The legislative design appears consistent: prayer treatment will be accommodated as an acceptable means of attending to the needs of a child only insofar as serious physical harm or illness is not at risk. When a child's life is placed in danger, we discern no intent to shield parents from the chastening prospect of felony liability.

Walker, 763 P.2d at 866. "California's statutory scheme reflects not an endorsement of the efficacy or reasonableness of prayer treatment for children battling life-threatening diseases but rather a willingness to accommodate religious practice when children do not face serious physical harm." *Id.* at 868.

The fair-notice argument in *State v. Hays*, 964 P.2d 1042 (Or. Ct. App. 1998), was based on the line between the negligent-homicide and criminal-mistreatment statutes. The latter exempts parents relying on treatment by prayer or other spiritual means from the general duty to provide necessary medical care to their children. *Id.* at 1045. The court held that the statutes were not "legally ambiguous." *Id.* at 1046.

[T]he statutes permit a parent to treat a child by prayer or other spiritual means so long as the illness is not life threatening. However, once a reasonable person should know that there is a substantial risk that the child will die without medical care, the parent must provide that care, or allow it to be provided, at the risk of criminal sanctions if the child does die.

Id. The *Hays* court acknowledged that although "it may be impossible to define in advance all the ways in which a person's actions can be a gross deviation from the standard of care of a reasonable person," the legislature may nevertheless "penalize such a gross deviation." *Id.*

Commonwealth v. Twitchell, 617 N.E.2d 609 (Mass. 1993), arose from involuntary-manslaughter convictions following the death of the Twitchells' son. Massachusetts' child-neglect statute recognizes a spiritual-treatment exemption from the general requirement that parents provide medical care to their children. *Id.* at 612 & n.4. The Twitchells argued they "lacked 'fair warning" that spiritual treatment could result in a manslaughter prosecution. *Id.* at 616. The court disagreed.

There is no mixed signal from the coexistence of the spiritual treatment provision and the common law definition of involuntary manslaughter. The spiritual treatment provision protects against criminal charges of neglect and of willful failure to provide proper medical care and says nothing about protection against criminal charges based on wanton or reckless conduct. The fact that at some point in a given case a parent's conduct may lose the protection of the spiritual treatment provision and may become subject to the application of the common law of homicide is not a circumstance that presents a due process of law "fair warning" violation.

Id. at 617 (citations omitted).

Commonwealth v. Nixon, 718 A.2d 311, 314 (Pa. Super. Ct. 1998), aff'd, 761 A.2d 1151 (2000), involved the line between the child-abuse statute (containing a "seriously held religious belief" exception in medical-care

cases) and the involuntary-manslaughter statute. The court concluded:

A plain reading of the statutes shows that an act which does not qualify as child abuse may still be done in a manner which causes death and thus qualifies as involuntary manslaughter. This precise situation occurred in this case. While the Nixons were not considered child abusers for treating their children through spiritual healing, when their otherwise lawful course of conduct led to a child's death, they were guilty of involuntary manslaughter.

Id.

As the State argued above, these cases hold that a statutory structure granting a prayer exemption in a childneglect or abuse statute does not deprive a prayer-treating parent of fair notice that he may be criminally liable under the homicide statutes if his child dies. Further, as argued above, these cases recognize that such a statutory structure is a legislative accommodation between the interests of parents who choose to provide prayer treatment and the interest of the State in protecting all children from death or great bodily harm. As one court wrote, prayer is "an acceptable means of attending to the needs of a child only insofar as serious physical harm or illness is not at risk. When a child's life is placed in danger, we discern no intent to shield parents from the chastening prospect of felony liability." *Walker*, 763 P.2d at 866.

Dale argues that these cases are distinguishable and relies instead on *State v. McKown*, 475 N.W.2d 63 (Minn. 1991), and *Hermanson v. State*, 604 So.2d 775 (Fla. 1992). These cases are inapposite.

The Minnesota statute analyzed in *McKown* provides that a parent "who willfully deprives a child of necessary ... health care" is guilty of child neglect, but if she "in good faith selects and depends upon spiritual means or prayer for treatment or care of disease ... this treatment shall constitute 'health care." Minn. Stat. § 609.378 (1988). Unlike Minnesota, Wisconsin does not

equate prayer treatment with health care. The court did not focus on this aspect of the Minnesota exception. Instead, it concluded that the language was too broad to give prayer-treating parents fair notice that they could be prosecuted for second-degree manslaughter (based on "culpable negligence" and the creation "unreasonable risk") if their child died. McKown, 475 N.W.2d at 65 n.4, 68. As the dissent explained, the court failed to address the fact that the two statutes at issue (like those here) provided distinct mens rea standards to guide parents in their health-treatment decisions. See id. at 69 (Coyne, J., dissenting).

Hermanson involved the interplay of three statutes. First was the child-dependency statute, defining an abused or neglected child in part as one harmed by a parent's acts or omissions. 604 So.2d at 776. The statute defines "harm" as failure to supply, *inter alia*, "health care."

"[H]owever, a parent ... practicing his religious beliefs, who by reason thereof does not provide specified medical treatment for a child, may not be considered abusive or neglectful for that reason alone"

Id. (citation and emphasis omitted). The second statute was a child abuse provision making it a crime to deprive a child of medical treatment. *Id.* The third was a statute "provid[ing] that the killing of a human being while engaged in the commission of child abuse constitutes murder in the third degree." *Id.*

The Hermansons' daughter died from DKA when her parents chose to combat her condition with prayer. They were convicted of felony child abuse and third-degree murder. The court agreed with the Hermansons that Florida's statutes denied them due process by failing to "give them fair warning of the consequences of practicing their religious belief." *Id.* at 780, 783.

The statutes construed in *Hermanson* are very different from those at issue here. In combination, the child-dependency and criminal child-abuse statutes

essentially removed prayer treatment from the definition of child abuse and "raised spiritual intervention to a level equal to that of medical treatment." *Nixon*, 718 A.2d at 314. The third-degree murder statute explicitly based liability on "child abuse," which the child-abuse statute explicitly defined as withholding medical care, which the child-dependency statute explicitly permitted prayer-treating parents to do. In contrast, Wisconsin's reckless-homicide statute is based on a generic definition of recklessness, and does not invoke any specific criminal act such as child abuse. A definition of child abuse from elsewhere in the Wisconsin Statutes is not even arguably incorporated into the reckless-homicide statute.

Although appellate courts have split on the fairnotice issue, this court should follow the decisions of California, Oregon, Massachusetts, and Pennsylvania. The statutes considered there are parallel to those involved here and the courts' analyses are thoughtful and germane to the present case. The Minnesota and Florida decisions provide little guidance because the statutes they analyze are critically distinguishable from the applicable Wisconsin statutes.

B. Analysis.

As shown, the statutes draw a clear line between privileged and unprivileged "reckless" behavior. The question for the parent is whether he is creating an "unreasonable risk of harm" in "conscious disregard" of his child's safety, or whether he is "aware" that he is creating an "unreasonable and substantial risk of death or great bodily harm" to his child. Wis. Stat. §§ 948.03(1), 939.24(1), 940.06(1). The trial evidence demonstrates that Dale had sufficient warning that he had crossed the border from protected into unprotected conduct hours before Kara died.

By Saturday night, Kara's condition was sufficiently grave that Dale's decision to withhold medical care created an "unreasonable and substantial risk of death or great bodily harm" to Kara—and Dale knew it. At 4:58

p.m., he sent a mass email alerting others to the gravity of Kara's condition (111:157). Dale saw that Kara was pale and cold and that her legs were blue (109:59; 111:131). Kara stopped walking and talking and her breathing was labored (109:70-71; 111:165-68). After she collapsed in the bathroom, Dale had to carry her (111:161-63). Kara lapsed into a coma that night (107:47). At the very least, these symptoms informed Dale that Kara was in "substantial risk of ... great bodily harm"; at most, they informed him that Kara was in "substantial risk of death."

Any doubt that Kara was at death's door was gone by Sunday morning. During trial, Leilani backed away from the word "coma," but admitted that Kara was unconscious all day (109:90). Dale preferred to call her state a "deep sleep," but admitted that her body was "limp" (111:139, 164). The description of Kara's condition by Althea Wormgoor and the Peaslees confirm the coma assessment. All three said Kara was nonresponsive (109:204, 225, 227, 252). Althea noticed that her eyes were open, but unseeing (109:252). Leilani's efforts to hydrate Kara were unsuccessful because of Kara's inability to swallow (109:209). When the Peaslees arrived, Dale was weeping over Kara's condition (109:224).

If Kara had died on Friday, Dale's fair-notice argument might have some plausibility. However, by late Saturday—and certainly by Sunday morning—it was clear that Dale's choice of prayer posed an "unreasonable and substantial risk of death or great bodily harm" to Kara and that Dale was aware of that risk. Wis. Stat. § 939.24(1). The stage at which Dale's choice posed only a protected "unreasonable risk of harm" in "conscious disregard of [Kara's] safety" was over by the time Kara turned cold and blue, suffered labored breathing, and lapsed into a coma. Wis. Stat. § 948.03(1). The Wisconsin Statutes unquestionably provided fair notice to Dale Neumann.

II. THE "DUTY" INSTRUCTION WAS PROPER AND CONSTITUTIONAL.

The circuit court instructed the jury on the first element of reckless homicide as follows:

First, the defendant caused the death of Madeline Kara Neumann.

Cause means that the defendant's conduct was a substantial factor in producing the death. Conduct can be either by an act or omission, when the defendant has a duty to act. One such duty is the duty of a parent to protect their children, to care for them in sickness and in health.

(112:52).

As originally proposed, the instruction ended with the phrase: "and to do whatever may be necessary for the care, maintenance, and preservation, including medical attendance, if necessary" (112:64). On Kronenwetter's objection, the court removed that language (112:65).

Dale contends that the instruction given was improper. His arguments fail.

First, although Dale quotes the instruction actually given, his argument appears to rely on the language originally proposed and ultimately removed by the court. Dale says the "duty instruction erroneously communicated a broad, absolute parental duty to provide medical attendance whenever necessary to 'protect' or 'care' for one's children." Dale's Brief at 29. But that critique makes sense only against the original version of the instruction—the one containing the words "medical attendance" and "necessary" (112:64). Further, Dale repeatedly complains that the instruction said he had a "legal duty" "to provide" Kara "with conventional medical care." Dale's Brief at 23, 27, 29, 30, 33. But, again, that complaint is not relevant to the instruction actually given.

The instruction actually given says nothing about providing Kara with "conventional medical care." On the contrary, it told the jury that Dale had a more general duty to protect Kara "in sickness and in health" (112:52). The instruction was broad enough to embrace both the State's theory (that medical intervention was necessary to protect Kara's health) and Dale's (that prayer provided the appropriate means for protecting Kara's health). It is not surprising that Kronenwetter endorsed this language, as it was consistent with his defense theory (112:39-47).

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